FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2014 DEC 11 PM 3:21

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY: 
DEPUTY

No. 46442-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

JAMES SWAIN, Individually

Appellant,

v.

SUREWAY, INC., a Washington Corporation

Respondent.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALANA BULLIS, PS
Alana K. Bullis,
WSBA No. 30554
1911 Nelson Street
DuPont, WA 98327
(253) 905-4488
Attorney for Appellant

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

Issue No. 1: The trial court erred as a matter of law when it denied the appellant's¹ motion for a mistrial after the respondent² repeatedly referenced an arbitration proceeding during testimony before a jury on a trial de novo.

Issue No. 2: The trial court erred as a matter of law when it dismissed Swain's claims against Sureway under the Automotive Repair Act ("ARA") and the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA").

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Issue No. 1:

a. Whether a trial court errs as a matter of law if it fails to give effect to the plain language of Mandatory Arbitration Rule ("MAR") 7.2(b)(1) and MAR 7.2(b)(2)³ when it denies a motion for a mistrial; and

b. Whether a trial court has discretion to deny a motion for a mistrial under MAR 7.2(b)(1) and MAR 7.2(b)(2) when a witness repeatedly references an arbitration proceeding during testimony before a jury on a trial de novo.

¹ Hereinafter referred to as "Swain."

² Hereinafter referred to as "Sureway."

³ MAR 7.2(b)(1) provides: "The trial de novo *shall* be conducted as though no arbitration proceeding had occurred. *No reference shall* be made to the arbitration award, in any pleading, brief, or other written or oral statement to the trial court or jury either before or during trial, *nor, in any jury trial, shall the jury be informed that there has been an arbitration proceeding* (emphasis added)."

MAR 7.2(b)(2) provides: "Testimony given during the arbitration proceeding is admissible in subsequent proceedings to the extent allowed by the Rules of Evidence, *except that the testimony shall not be identified as having been given in an arbitration proceeding* (emphasis added)."

Issue No. 2:

a. Whether an automotive repair facility's form that purports to be a written estimate and authorization for repair complies with the ARA when:

1. The form does not include a description of the specific repairs requested by the customer;
2. The form does not include a choice of alternatives specified in the ARA;
3. The form does not clearly and accurately record the parts and labor provided by the automotive repair facility; and
4. The form expressly states that it is a warehouse receipt.

b. Whether an automotive repair facility is required to comply with the written estimate and authorization for repair requirement under the ARA when:

1. The customer's motor vehicle is not taken to the automotive repair facility's regular place of business; and
2. The automotive repair facility obtains from an automotive dealership a key to a customer's motor vehicle for purposes of automotive repair without the customer's knowledge and without first obtaining the customer's oral or written authorization.

c. Whether a third-party insurance company that merely pays for the cost of repair to a motor vehicle under a liability claim may be

considered a “customer’s designee” under the ARA for purposes of compliance with the written estimate and authorization for repair requirement under the ARA when the motor vehicle owner does not authorize or approve of such a designation.

d. Whether a trial court errs in dismissing a claim based upon an unlawful act or practice under the ARA when an automotive repair facility charges a customer for unnecessary repairs to a motor vehicle.

e. Whether an automotive repair facility’s failure to properly repair the brakes to a customer’s motor vehicle is an “unnecessary repair” under the ARA when the repair service is not consistent with specifications established by the manufacturer of the motor vehicle.

f. Whether an automotive repair facility that fails to comply with the written estimate and authorization for repairs requirement under the ARA is an unfair and deceptive act or practice for the purpose of applying the CPA.

g. Whether an automotive repair facility that performs an “unnecessary repair” to a customer’s motor vehicle under the ARA is an unfair and deceptive act for the purpose of applying the CPA.

II. INTRODUCTION

This case was a trial de novo from mandatory arbitration and it was tried before a jury on May 28, 2014, through June 5, 2014. CP 27. Swain’s claims against Sureway were for negligent auto repairs, violations of the ARA, violations of the CPA, fraud and intentional misrepresentation, and

fraudulent omissions. CP 1-7. Before submitting the case to the jury, the trial court partially granted Sureway's motion to dismiss all of Swain's claims as a matter of law. CP 27; RP (IV) 4-17. The claim that survived and was submitted to the jury was Swain's claim against Sureway for negligent auto repairs. CP 27; RP (III) 111. The jury returned a special verdict finding that Sureway had negligently repaired Swain's vehicle and awarded Swain \$1,080.72. CP 27.

This appeal arises from: (1) the trial court's denial of Swain's motion for a mistrial under MAR 7.2(b)(1) and MAR 7.2(b)(2) after Robert (Bob) Merritt ("Merritt")⁴ repeatedly referenced an arbitration proceeding during testimony before a jury on a trial de novo; and (2) the trial court's dismissal under CR 50(a)(1)⁵ of Swain's claims for violations of the ARA and the CPA against Sureway after Swain presented all of his evidence and rested his case-in-chief. CP 27.

Swain timely appealed the trial court's denial of his motion for a mistrial and its dismissal of his claims against Sureway under the ARA and the CPA. CP 65. Thereafter, Sureway timely filed a notice of appeal seeking cross review of the "trial court's ruling on and admission of

⁴ As owner of Sureway, Merritt testified on behalf of Sureway.

⁵ CR 50(a)(1) provides in relevant part: "If, during a trial by jury, a party has been fully heard with respect to an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to that issue, the court may grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law against the party on any claim...that cannot under the controlling law be maintained without a favorable finding on that issue. Such a motion shall specify the judgment sought and the law and the facts on which the moving party is entitled to the judgment."

evidence regarding the testimony of Mike Harbor⁶ about the Automotive Repair Act, about that Statute's requirements, and about whether the Statute had been violated."⁷ Sureway's Notice of Appeal to Division Two of the Court of Appeals.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE⁸

Litigation arose from automotive repairs performed by Sureway to Swain's vehicle when it was damaged in a collision caused by another driver on December 13, 2006. CP 2-4. The other driver was 100% liable for the collision and he was insured by United Services Automobile Services ("USAA"). CP 2. Swain was insured by Grange. CP 2.

Based upon a recommendation by the dealership where Swain purchased his vehicle, Swain elected to have his vehicle repaired by Sureway. CP 2; RP (III) 37. Swain's vehicle was subsequently towed to the dealership. RP (III) 35. Sureway took possession of Swain's vehicle from the dealership by obtaining a copy of a key for it for the purpose of moving the vehicle to Sureway's regular place of business. RP (III) 38. Sureway took possession of the vehicle without Swain's knowledge or consent. RP (III) 38.

Two days after Swain picked up his repaired vehicle from Sureway, the wheel to the driver's side of the vehicle suddenly locked up

⁶ Swain's witness was not Mike Harbor as named in Sureway's notice of appeal, but Darrell M. Harber, hereinafter referred to as "Harber."

⁷ Sureway did not designate as clerk's papers for transmittal to the Court its notice of appeal.

⁸ This case has a long procedural history. Swain states those facts that are relevant to the issues he raises on review.

while he was traveling on Interstate 5 at highway speed. CP 3; RP (III) 46-48. Swain's vehicle ran off the roadway onto the median and came to a stop. CP 3; RP (III) 46-48.

The vehicle was towed to Stroud's Auto Rebuild, where Harber determined that the vehicle had not been properly and completely repaired by Sureway and that the vehicle was not safe as a normal means of transportation. CP 3; RP (II) 20-29; RP (III) 49-51.

On August 27, 2007, Swain filed a complaint in an initial lawsuit for personal injury and for property damage against the adverse driver and for bad faith, breach of contract, and violations of the CPA against Grange.⁹ CP 13-14. On March 21, 2008, the trial court granted Grange's motion for summary judgment and dismissed Swain's claims against it. CP 13.

Thereafter, Swain amended his complaint to add Sureway as a party defendant for negligent auto repairs. CP 14. Subsequently, Swain and the adverse driver entered into a stipulation to dismiss Swain's claim against the adverse driver and his wife. CP 13. The order of dismissal was entered on June 1, 2009. CP 13.

Upon deposition of Merritt in the initial action, Swain discovered that Sureway does not comply with the written estimate and authorization for repairs requirement under the ARA. CP 14. Specifically, Sureway does not provide to its customers a written price estimate that complies with the ARA prior to providing parts and labor and it does not obtain the proper

⁹ Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 07-2-11494-2. CP 14.

authorization from its customers prior to providing parts or labor, also a requirement by the ARA. CP 14.

Additionally, Sureway is required under the ARA to accurately record the cost of labor on its repair invoices. CP 14. Sureway conceded at the deposition that it does not accurately record labor hours on its repair invoices and it does not advise its customers of this fact. CP 14. Based upon the admissions against interest by Sureway in the deposition, Swain moved for and was granted a voluntary dismissal on his first action against Sureway, which was a claim only for negligent auto repairs. CP 14.

Thereafter, Swain filed the instant action against Sureway alleging additional claims. CP 14. In addition to negligent auto repairs, Swain's claims against Sureway included violations of the ARA; violations of the CPA; fraud and intentional misrepresentation; and fraudulent omissions. CP 14.

This matter was subsequently transferred to arbitration; an arbitration hearing was held; and the arbitrator ruled in favor of Sureway. CP 32-41. Swain timely requested a trial de novo before a jury. CP 32-41.

The trial de novo was held from May 28, 2014 through June 5, 2014. CP 27. A jury was selected. CP 27. Witnesses were sworn and testified; exhibits were admitted. CP 27.

During the trial, Harber¹⁰ testified on a more probable than not basis that Sureway failed to comply with the manufacturer specifications with respect to the repair of Swain's vehicle's brake caliper. CP 23; RP

¹⁰ Swain's expert.

(III) 6-9. Harber opined on a more probable than not basis that the brake caliper fell off of the wheel because it was not torqued to 85 foot pounds. CP 23; RP (III) 6-9. Had the caliper bolts been torqued to manufacturer specifications, a bolt would not have fallen off and caused the front wheel of Swain's vehicle to lock up, thereby endangering his person. CP 23; RP (III) 6-9.

After Swain rested his case-in-chief on June 2, 2014, Sureway moved for judgment as a matter of law as to all of Swain's claims. CP 27 RP (III) 99. The trial court denied Sureway's motion with respect to Swain's claim against Sureway for negligent auto repair. CP 27; RP (III) 111. The following day, the trial court granted Sureway's motion to dismiss the remainder of Swain's claims against Sureway. CP 27.

On June 4, 2014, during cross-examination of Merritt on behalf of Sureway, Merritt repeatedly referenced the arbitration proceeding before the jury. CP 27; RP (V) 15, 18. Swain immediately moved for a mistrial under the mandatory arbitration rules that prohibit reference or testimony about an arbitration proceeding before a jury on a trial de novo. CP 27, RP (VI) 4-6. The trial court denied Swain's motion for a mistrial based on the court's discretion. CP 27, RP (VI) 6.

Swain's only surviving claim for negligent auto repairs was submitted to the jury on May 27, 2014. CP 27. The jury returned a special verdict in favor of Swain in the amount of \$1,080.72. CP 27.¹¹

¹¹ Thereby improving Swain's position on the trial de novo from the arbitration award.

On June 13, 2014, judgment was entered by the trial court on the jury verdict. CP 27. Swain timely appealed the trial court's denial of his motion for a mistrial and for the trial court's dismissal of his ARA and CPA claims against Sureway. CP 65.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW, LEGAL AUTHORITIES, AND ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW ON A TRIAL DE NOVO WHEN IT DENIED SWAIN'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL UNDER MAR 7.2(b)(1) AND MAR 7.2(b)(2) BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO GIVE EFFECT TO THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE MANDATORY ARBITRATION RULES

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Generally, a decision granting or denying a motion for a mistrial is discretionary with the trial court. *Anderson v. Dobro*, 63 Wn.2d 923, 928, 389 P.2d 885 (1964). This principle is subject to the limitation that when an order granting or denying a motion for a mistrial is predicated upon rulings as to the law, no element of discretion is involved. *Worthington v. Caldwell*, 65 Wn.2d 269, 278, 396 P.2d 797 (1964). Review of the application of a court rule or statute to the facts is de novo. *Twitchell v. Kerrigan*, 175 Wn. App. 454, 461, 306 P.3d 1025 (2013). "[D]e novo review applies to a trial court's application of the mandatory arbitration rules." *Id.* Interpreting the MARs is a matter of law that is reviewed de novo. *Manius v. Boyd*, 111 Wn. App. 764, 766-67, 47 P.3d 145 (2002).

The issue with respect to the trial court's denial of Swain's motion for a mistrial is whether the trial court, in its interpretation of MAR

7.2(b)(1) and 7.2(b)(2), failed to give effect to the plain language of the rules when it decided to deny Swain's motion for a mistrial after Sureway repeatedly referenced an arbitration proceeding during testimony before a jury on a trial de novo.

The foregoing issue involves a question of law; no element of discretion is involved; and therefore, abuse of discretion that generally applies to a trial court's decision to grant or to deny a motion for a mistrial is not the applicable standard. The standard of review for this issue is de novo.

2. LEGAL AUTHORITIES AND ARGUMENT

Courts interpret the mandatory arbitration rules as though they were drafted by the legislature and construe these rules consistent with their purpose. *Malted Mousse, Inc. v. Steinmetz*, 150 Wn.2d 518, 525, 79 P.3d 1154 (2003). The court's objective is to carry out the legislature's intent. *Arborwood Idaho LLC v. City of Kennewick*, 151 Wn.2d 359, 367, 89 P.3d 217 (2004). Washington courts strictly interpret the mandatory arbitration rules. *Malted Mousse, Inc. v. Steinmetz*, 150 Wn.2d 518 at 529. In giving effect to the language of the statute, courts must not render any portion meaningless. *Twitchell v. Kerrigan*, 175 Wn. App. 454, 461, 306 P.3d 1025 (2013). "[T]he court should assume that the legislature means exactly what it says. Plain words do not require construction." *Id.* (citing *City of Kent v. Jenkins*, 99 Wn. App. 287, 290, 992 P.2d 1045 (2000)). If a

statute is unambiguous, the court's inquiry is at an end. *Twitchell v. Kerrigan*, 175 Wn. App. 454 at 461.

Presumptively, the use of the word "shall" in a statute is imperative and operates to create a duty rather than to confer discretion. *Clark County Sheriff v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 95 Wn.2d 445, 448, 626 P.2d 6 (1981). "Generally, the use of the word shall is considered a command and operates to create a duty absent any evidence of legislative intent to the contrary." *I-5 Truck Sales & Service Co., v. Underwood*, 32 Wn. App. 4, 9, 645 P.2d 716 (1982) (citing *State ex rel. Nugent v. Lewis*, 93 Wn.2d 80, 82, 605 P.2d 1265 (1980)).

The mandatory arbitration rules at issue on review is MAR 7.2(b)(1) and MAR 7.2(b)(2).

MAR 7.2(b)(1) provides:

The trial de novo shall be conducted as though no arbitration proceeding had occurred. No reference shall be made to the arbitration award, in any pleading, brief, or other written or oral statement to the trial court or jury either before or during trial, nor, in any jury trial, shall the jury be informed that there has been an arbitration proceeding (emphasis added).

MAR 7.2(b)(2) provides:

Testimony given during the arbitration proceeding is admissible in subsequent proceedings to the extent allowed by the Rules of Evidence, except that the testimony shall not be identified as having been given in an arbitration proceeding (emphasis added).

"The trial de novo must be conducted as though no arbitration proceedings had ever occurred. RCW 7.06.050; MAR 7.2(b)(1). The

arbitration proceedings are sealed. MAR 7.2(a). ***Absolutely no reference may be made to any aspect of the arbitration, even the fact that it existed, [b]efore, during or after the de novo trial.*** MAR 7.2(b)(1) (emphasis added).” *In re Smith-Bartlett*, 95 Wn. App. 633, 641, 976 P.2d 173 (1999).

In 2003, the Washington State Supreme Court addressed the trial de novo appeal process from mandatory arbitration under RCW 7.06 in *Malted Mousse, Inc. v. Steinmetz*, 150 Wn.2d 518. According to the court, the trial de novo process under MAR is as follows:

Once a party requests a trial de novo, though, the clerk must seal the arbitration award. MAR 7.1(a). The trial de novo is then “conducted *as though no arbitration proceeding had occurred.*” MAR 7.2(b)(1) (emphasis added).¹² ***No pleading, brief, statement (written or oral) during the trial de novo may refer to the arbitration proceeding.***¹³ *Id.* The right to a jury trial is maintained, RCW 7.06.070 (contrary to private arbitration), and if it is so exercised, ***the jury cannot be informed that an arbitration proceeding occurred prior to trial.***¹⁴ MAR 7.2(b)(1). Subject to the rules of evidence, testimony from the arbitration proceeding may be admissible ***so long as there is no indication that the testimony came from the arbitration proceeding.***¹⁵ MAR 7.2(b)(2).

We believe the trial de novo process is exactly what the rule says it is: a trial that is conducted as if the parties had never proceeded to arbitration. The entire case begins anew. The arbitral proceeding becomes a nullity, and it is relevant *solely* for purposes of determining whether a party has failed to improve his or her position, in which case attorney fees are mandated.

Malted Mousse, Inc. v. Steinmetz, 150 Wn.2d 518 at 528.

During cross-examination of Merritt on behalf of Sureway, Merritt referenced the arbitration proceeding before the jury. RP (V) 15, 18.

¹² Emphasis in the court’s opinion.

¹³ Emphasis added.

¹⁴ Emphasis added.

¹⁵ Emphasis added.

Swain immediately moved for a mistrial. RP (VI) 4. The following colloquy took place between Swain's counsel and the trial court:

THE COURT: Ms. Bullis, you have a comment.

MS. BULLIS: No, Your Honor. I have a motion.

THE COURT: All right.

MS BULLIS: Motion for mistrial under MAR Rule

7.2(b)(1). And it is explicit. The term uses "shall not mention in front of the jury an arbitration proceeding." Mr. Merritt did it twice. The first time he mentioned it, I was taken aback and caught a little off guard. And I apologize to the Court for my distraction at that time because I was trying to figure out the best way to deal with this issue. And then I continued again on cross, and then he mentioned an arbitration proceeding. And that's when I ended my cross because I --- I just don't know how to deal with that issue.

And then checking this, it is very clear that there can be no reference or testimony before the jury that there has been an arbitration proceeding.

THE COURT: Is my memory accurate in thinking that the reference to arbitration from Mr. Merritt occurred only during your cross-examination?

MS BULLIS: That is the Court's recollection, but the rule does not limit it to cross-examination. It just says no testimony shall be used.

THE COURT: I understand. The motion is denied. It appeared to me that Mr. Merritt was confused about previous proceedings, that is to say a lawsuit versus arbitration, what claims were filed and when, what claim or claims were dismissed and when, whether his deposition pertained to an arbitration or to a lawsuit.

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