No. 46442-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES SWAIN, individually

Appellant

v.

SUREWAY, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Appellees

Appeal from Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Jerry Costello
No. 10-2-06011-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT

HELSELL FETTERMAN LLP

Pauline V. Smetka, WSBA #11183 Lauren Parris Watts, WSBA #44064 1001 Fourth Ave., Ste. 4200 Seattle, Washington 98154 (206) 292-1144 Attorneys for Respondent

I. INTRODUCTION

This case was a trial de novo from a mandatory arbitration.

Appellant James Swain (Swain) filed this lawsuit in February 2010,
against Respondent Sureway, Inc. (Sureway) for negligent automotive
repairs, violations of the Automotive Repair Act (ARA) and the Consumer
Protection Act (CPA), fraud, intentional misrepresentation, and fraudulent
omissions. The case was tried before a jury from May 28, 2014, through
June 5, 2014. At the close of Swain's case-in-chief, the trial judge
dismissed all of Swain's claims with the exception of his claim for
negligent automotive repairs. On June 5, 2014, the jury returned a special
verdict awarding Swain a total of \$1,080.72 in damages.

Swain assigns error to two decisions by the trial court: (1) dismissal of Swain's ARA and CPA claims at the close of his case-inchief; and (2) denial of Swain's motion for a mistrial under MAR 7.2. The trial court properly found in favor of Sureway, and the Court should affirm the decisions of the trial court dismissing the ARA and CPA claims and the motion for a mistrial.

The trial court did, however, err in allowing Swain's expert witness to testify about statutory requirements under the ARA, as well as to make legal conclusions on whether Sureway violated the Statute.

Accordingly, Sureway filed a notice of appeal seeking cross review on this

sole issue. In the event this Court reverses the trial court's rulings, then Sureway asks the Court to reverse the trial court's ruling allowing such testimony.

II. RESPONSE TO SWAIN'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

Sureway responds to the assignment of error claimed by Swain as follows:

- 2.1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Swain's motion for a mistrial because Robert Merritt's inadvertent reference to arbitration did not unduly prejudice Swain's right to a fair trial.
- 2.2. The trial court did not err in granting Sureway's motion to dismiss Swain's claims under the ARA and the CPA because there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to have found for Swain at the close of his case-in-chief.

III. SUREWAY'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

The trial court erred when it admitted evidence regarding the testimony of Darrell (aka "Mike") Harber concerning the ARA and its requirements of the ARA, and whether the ARA had been violated.

IV. ISSUES PERTAINING TO SUREWAY'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

4.1 Whether a witness is qualified to testify as an expert on the

ARA when he has no special training or education of the ARA, and when he does not have any accreditation certifying his knowledge of the ARA?

- 4.2 Whether a trial court abuses its discretion when it allows an expert witness on collision repair to testify about the ARA statutory requirements when the witness lacked the qualifications necessary to testify as an expert concerning the ARA?
- 4.3 Whether a trial court abuses its discretion when it allows an expert witness on collision repair to make legal conclusions on whether a party violated the ARA when the witness lacked the qualifications necessary to testify as an expert concerning the ARA?

V. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Litigation arose between the parties after a December 2006 two-car auto accident involving Swain and a third party. VRP (Vol. 3) at 36, line 3-21. Swain was unable it drive his car, a 2006 Saturn, away from the scene, VRP (Vol. 3) at 34, lines 21-22, so it was towed to an impound lot, and then to defendant Sureway Collision Center. VRP (Vol. 3) at 37, lines 4-8).

USAA, the insurer paying for Swain's repairs, prepared an "Estimate of Record" in the amount of \$9,919.84 and gave it to Sureway. Exhibit 3. USAA then issued a check to Swain for "approximately \$10,000" and informed Swain that he needed to take the check to Sureway

and sign it over. VRP (Vol. 3) at 37, lines 20-24. Swain took the check to Sureway on January 4, 2007, and signed a written authorization for Sureway to proceed with repairs totaling \$9,919.84. VRP (Vol. 3) at 37-38; Exhibit 1. Swain picked up the car from Sureway on February 14, 2007. VRP (Vol. 3) at p. 43, lines 1-2.

On February 16, 2007, while driving on I-705, Swain claims that his front wheel locked up and that his vehicle then bounced four or five times before coming to a stop. VRP (Vol. 3.) at p. 47, line 11 – p. 49, line 6; VRP (Vol. 3) at p, 49, line 10-11. Swain had the vehicle towed to Stroud's Auto Rebuild to have Darrell "Mike" Harber inspect it. VRP (Vol. 3) at p. 49, lines 1-9.

Swain filed a complaint against Sureway in 2007 for negligent auto repair; however, he later dismissed that lawsuit. VRP (Vol. 3) at p. 52, line 23 – p. 53, line 6. Swain then filed a second lawsuit in 2010 alleging a claim for negligent auto repair in addition to claims for violations of the ARA and the CPA, fraud and intentional misrepresentation, and fraudulent omissions. CP 1-7. The case was transferred to mandatory arbitration, and the arbitrator ruled in favor of Sureway. CP 32-41. Swain requested a trial de novo before a jury. CP 32-41.

The case was tried before a jury on May 28, 2014 through June 5, 2014. CP 27. Swain first called Sureway's owner, Robert Merritt, to the

stand, VRP (Vol. 1) at p. 3, and then called his expert witness Darrell "Mike" Harber. VRP (Vol. 2) at p. 3.

Over Sureway's objection, the trial judge permitted Mr. Harber to testify about the statutory requirements under the ARA and to make legal conclusions on whether Sureway violated the ARA. VRP (Vol. 2) at p. 27 and 69. After Mr. Harber testified, Swain took the stand as the final witness in his case-in-chief. VRP (Vol. 3) at p. 3.

On June 2, 2014, at the close of Swain's case-in-chief, Sureway moved to dismiss all of Swain's claims. VRP (Vol. 3) at pp. 97-124.

After considering the testimony, the argument of counsel, Swain's written response to the motion, and the relevant statutes and case law, the trial court decided to dismiss all but Swain's claim for negligent auto repair.

VRP (Vol. 4) at p. 4-17; CP 17-25. In its oral ruling, the trial court was very thorough and carefully stated its reasoning in detail. *Id*.

On June 3, 2014, Sureway called Robert Merritt to the stand. VRP (Vol. 5) at p. 4, lines 16-22. During Mr. Merritt's cross-examination by Swain's counsel, and in response to a series of confusing questions, Mr. Merritt inadvertently twice uttered the word "arbitration." RP (Vol. 5) at pp. 15, 18; VRP (Vol. 6) at p. 5, lines 7-23.

Now, your attorney asked you if you were notified of any repair isues to Mr. Swain's vehicle before suit was filed. Do you recall that?

- A I'm not remembering that, no. It's been awhile.
- Q If I give you a document to refresh your memory, would that be helpful?
- A Yes.

MS. BULLIS: I am going to hand Mr. Merritt his deposition testimony.

BY MS. BULLIS:

- Q I am going to Page 53 and 54. I am going to Line Item No. 15.
- Q Did you read it?
- A Just so I understand it, this is a deposition? So this would have been the first time that I was called in to give testimony? Is this an was this our arbitration? Was is this something different?

VRP (Vol. 5) at p. 14, line 11 - p. 15, line 13.

- Q Do you recall a time when the first lawsuit was dismissed against Sureway?
- A It's always been a little confusing to me. All right.
- Q Me too.
- A It's taken quite a few years to quite get a grasp or get my head around the whole thing. But I'm not that good with the legal process, so I am going to have to say I am not qualified to answer that.
- Q If I said the lawsuit was dismissed the first lawsuit was dismissed in December 2009, would you disagree with that?
- [A] Well, my mind's wanting to know what was dismissed. What was on the table? I do remember there was a lawsuit dismissed. When, where, the terms, I don't know that.

BY MS. BULLIS:

- Q And do you recall that there was a second lawsuit filed against Sureway two months later; is that right?
- A Yeah. Yeah.
- Q And that lawsuit, without going into the claims, contained additional claims; is that right?
- A Okay. That's where it gets confusing. And then again, what you are calling a lawsuit, okay, I just remember a deposition and an arbitration.

VRP (Vol. 5) a p. 17, line 2 – p. 18, line 3. Swain later moved for a mistrial pursuant to MAR 7.2. After hearing from Swain's counsel, the trial court thoroughly explained the reasoning behind its decision to deny Swain's motion:

THE COURT: ... The motion is denied. It appeared to me that Mr. Merritt was confused about previous proceedings, that is to say a lawsuit versus an arbitration, what claims were filed and when, what claim or claims were dismissed and when, whether his deposition pertained to an arbitration proceeding or a lawsuit.

My observation was that he was confused. And his comment regarding an arbitration was in the context of expressing his confusion. He was confused by the questions posed by [Swain]'s counsel during cross-examination. So in the Court's view, the statement about an arbitration was not intended in any way, shape or form by [Sureway] to deliberately introduce the subject of arbitration in front of a jury in an effort to poison this trial in any way. I am confident it was inadvertent. I am confident that there is little, if any, prejudice to [Swain]'s case.

I believe that if there is any prejudice to the introduction of testimony about previous proceedings, that there would be more prejudice to [Swain]'s case for the jury to know, as they have been told through counsel – through [Swain]'s counsel's questioning that there was a lawsuit once filed

and then subsequently dismissed to the extent that there is any prejudice to [Swain]'s case from that. I don't think there would be much prejudice. I think that there is a greater level of prejudice than the mention of an arbitration.

In any event, I see this as elicited by [Swain]'s counsel, and, again, inadvertently mentioned by Mr. Merritt. I do not see this as the sort of problem or error that would require a mistrial to be ordered. I am declining to order that.

VRP (Vol. 6) at p. 5, line 7 - p. 6, line 14 (emphasis added).

THE COURT: ... And the Court has considered all circumstances here. I have made a record of what my observations were, so that if an appellate court reviews this trial record, they will have the benefit of this Judge's observations of what occurred. In the exercise of my discretion, I am denying the motion for mistrial.

VRP (Vol. 6) at p. 7, line 20 - p.8, line 3.

At the end of trial, the jury returned a special verdict in favor of Swain in the amount of \$1,080.72. CP 27. However, because Sureway made an offer of judgment in December 2010 in the amount of \$18,649.98 that was not accepted by Swain, Sureway was deemed the prevailing party for purposes of an award of costs. CP 27. Therefore, the trial court entered a judgment in favor of Swain for \$880.72, to reflect a \$200 offset for Sureway's statutory attorney fees. CP 27.

VI. ARGUMENT

6.1 The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Denied Swain's Motion for a Mistrial.

A. Standard on Review.

A trial court's denial of a motion for mistrial is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *Anderson v. Dobro*, 63 Wn.2d 923, 928, 389 P.2d 885 (1964).

Trial courts have broad discretionary powers in conducting a trial and dealing with irregularities that arise. They should grant a mistrial only when nothing the court can say or do would remedy the harm caused by the irregularity, or in other words, when the harmed party has been so prejudiced that only a new trial can remedy the error. In determining the effect of an irregularity, a reviewing court considers whether (1) it was serious, (2) it involved cumulative evidence, and (3) the trial court properly instructed the jury to disregard it.

Kimball v. Otis Elevator Co., 89 Wn. App. 169, 947 P.2d 1275 (1997) (internal citation omitted). See also Aluminum Co. of America v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 539, 998 P.2d 856 (2000) ("A mistrial should be granted only when nothing the trial could have said or done would have remedied the harm done to the [moving party]") (internal quotes and citation omitted).

B. Swain's Motion for Mistrial Was Properly Denied.

Swain asserts that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Swain's motion for a mistrial after Mr. Merritt referenced arbitration. While it is true that MAR 7.2(b)(1) provides that no reference shall be made to an arbitration proceeding in a jury trial, it is not true that

the mere reference of arbitration by itself, without consideration of whether the reference had any effect on the trial or whether there was prejudice to one of the parties, is grounds for a mistrial. Without citation to authority, Swain asks this Court to make <u>new law</u> that a trial's denial of a motion for mistrial for violation of MAR 7.2(b)(1) is not reviewed on an abuse of discretion, but rather that any such violation of is *per se* grounds for mistrial. *See* Appellant's Brief at 16 ("the trial court did not have discretion under the mandatory arbitration rules to deny Swain's motion for a mistrial"). This simply cannot be the law.

Trial courts have discretion in determining whether an inadvertent reference had a 'devastating' effect on the jury and unduly prejudiced the moving party's rights to a fair trial. *See Rich v. Starczewski*; 29 Wn. App 244, 247, 628 P.2d 831 (1931). A trial court's discretion is appropriate in these circumstances because the "trial judge's presence in the courtroom enables him to best determine the effect, if any, of such statements on the jury and if the statement were sufficient to deny the appellant a fair trial." *Id.* at 247; *see also Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc.*, 66 Wn. App. 852, 837 P.2d 640 (1992).

Here, the trial court determined that Mr. Merritt's inadvertent reference to arbitration did not have any effect on the proceeding. The trial judge recognized that his presence in the room enabled him to both

observe the effect, if any, of Mr. Merritt's statement and to determine if the statement was sufficient to deny Swain a fair trial. The judge found that there was little effect, if any, and certainly not enough to deny Swain a fair trial.

The witness's two references to arbitration were isolated and the trial judge determined that it did not prejudice Swain's case. Moreover, as noted by the trial court, it was Swain's counsel who "opened the door" to the testimony regarding arbitration by asking confusing questions that elicited the complained of testimony.

6.2 The Record Supports the Trial Court's Dismissal of Swain's Claims under the ARA and the CPA.

A. Standard on Review

The trial court granted Sureway's motion to dismiss as a matter of law pursuant to CR 50(a)(1), which provides in relevant part:

If, during a trial by jury, a party has been fully heard with respect to an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to that issue, the court may grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law against the party on any claim, counterclaim, cross claim, or third party claim that cannot under the controlling law be maintained without a favorable finding on that issue. Such a motion shall specify the judgment sought and the law and the facts on which the moving party is entitled to the judgment.

An appellate court reviews *de novo* the trial court's decision granting a motion for judgment and applies the same standard as the trial court.

Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 144 Wn.2d 907, 915, 32 P.3d 250 (2001); Estate of Borden v. State Dep't of Corrections, Wn. App., 95 P.3d 764, 768 (2004).

B. Swain Did Not Introduce Substantial Evidence To Sustain A Verdict Under The ARA.

A motion to dismiss as a matter of law should be granted "when, viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." Guijosa, 144 Wn.2d 2d at 915. Substantial evidence is said to exist if it is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise." Id. (quoting Brown v. Superior Underwriters, 30 Wn. App. 303, 306, 632 P.2d 887 (1980)). Judgment as a matter of law may be granted at the close of the plaintiff's case if the plaintiff has been "fully heard" and "there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party [.]" CR 50(a)(1). The reviewing court must "view [] conflicting evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmovant party and determine[] whether the proffered result is the only reasonable conclusion." Hollmann v. Corcoran, 89 Wn. App. 323, 331, 949 P.2d 386 (1997) (citing Forro Precision, Inc. v. Int'l Bus. Machs. Corp., 673 F.2d 1045, 1058 (9th Cir. 1982)).

Here, Swain argues that there was substantial evidence to show a violation of RCW 46.71.025(1), RCW 46.71.025(3), and RCW 46.71.045(7). He is incorrect.

i. Sureway complied with RCW 46.71.025(1).

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